Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

The Knee



journal homepage:

Comparative efficacy of the different cutting guides in unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: A systematic-review and network meta-analysis



Pierre-Alban Bouché^{a,b,*}, Simon Corsia^b, Aurélien Hallé^c, Nicolas Gaujac^b, Rémy Nizard^b

^a Service de Biostatistique et Information Médicale, Hôpital Saint-Louis, APHP, Université de Paris, ECSTRA Team, UMR U1153, INSERM, Paris ^b Service de chirurgie orthopédique et traumatologique, Hôpital Lariboisière, Paris ^c Service de chirurgie orthopédique et traumatologique, Hôpital Cochin, Paris

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 26 August 2022 Revised 28 November 2022 Accepted 3 January 2023

Keywords: Network meta-analysis UKA Cutting guides Knee prostheses Robotic

ABSTRACT

Background: Several cutting guides including conventional, navigation, patient specific instrumentation (PSI) and robotic are currently used in unicompartmental knee arthroplasty (UKA). A network meta-analysis was conducted to compare the most widely used cutting guides regarding the improvement of radiological, functional outcomes and the rate of complications.

Methods: Randomised controlled trials (RCTs) comparing UKA cutting guides were searched in electronic databases, major orthopaedics journals, and oral communications in major orthopaedics meetings, until May 1st, 2022. The primary outcomes were the rate of outliers for the tibial and femoral components in the frontal plane, KSS score and the complication rate.

Results: Eighteen RCTs involving 1562 patients with 1564 UKA were included Regarding the prosthetic components' positions, we found a significant increase of the outliers rate using PSI for the femoral component, compared to robotic surgery (risk ratio 0.00 [95% CI 0.00 to 0.55]) and navigated surgery (risk ratio 305.1 [95% CI 1.50 to 1,27e + 07]). We didn't emphasize any difference regarding the tibial component's position, the KSS value at 24 months postoperatively, and the complication rate. Regarding secondary outcomes, robotics provided a better precision in bone cuts in the sagittal plane for the tibial component and the lower limb alignment. No other differences were observed.

Conclusion: In the light of these results, the robot seems to be the most precise cutting instrument to perform UKA. However, this did not demonstrate any difference in functional or clinical outcome. The cost of this technology can be a major economic brake, especially in surgical centers that do not have an exclusive prosthetic activity. Further outcome and survivorship data is needed to recommend one cutting instrument over the other.

© 2023 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	73
2.	Materials and methods	73

* Corresponding author at: INSERM U1153, Hôpital Saint-Louis, Bâtiment Lailler 3ème étage, 1, avenue Claude Vellefaux, 75010 Paris, France. *E-mail address:* pierre-alban.bouche@aphp.fr (P.-A. Bouché).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2023.01.003 0968-0160/© 2023 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.



Review

	2.1.	Search strategy	73	
	2.2.	Study eligibility and selection process	74	
	2.3.	Selection and general network characteristics	75	
	2.4.	Data extraction and risk of bias assessment	75	
	2.5.	Data synthesis and analysis	75	
3.	Result	S	76	
	3.1.	Outliers of the femoral and tibial component on frontal plane	76	
	3.2.	KSS within one- and two-years post-surgery	77	
	3.3.	Rate of complications	77	
	3.4.	Secondary outcomes	77	
	3.5.	Grade evaluation	77	
4.	Discus	sion	78	
5.	Conclu	ısions	80	
	Ethical a	approval	80	
Consent to Participate				
Consent to publish				
Authors' contribution				
Funding				
Availability of data and materials				
	References			

1. Introduction

In sixty percent of patients suffering from knee osteoarthritis, cartilage wear is isolated to a single compartment. In the majority of cases, the internal femoro-tibial compartment is the altered one. However, Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty (UKA) still accounts for only 8–12% of all knee replacements [1–3]. In good cases, UKA had better functional results than Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA) [4]. These advantages include improved postoperative range of motion, proprioception, preservation of bone stock, quicker recovery and better patient satisfaction [5–10]. In recent years, there has been a recent increase of UKA implantations, especially in the United States of America [11,12]. This change is attributable to a better understanding of the indications and to the development of new technologies. In particular, the bone cutting guides used to perform the arthroplasty have shown a great improvement.

The development of new technologies in the medical sector and particularly in prosthetics surgery is always attractive as much for the physician as for the patient. Despite, sometimes, the commercial pressure and the passing fad, it is always important to assess the benefit/risk balance of innovations and their real contribution for the surgeon and above all, for the patient.

Numerous therapeutic trials or meta-analyzes comparing these different cutting guides in UKA two by two have been carried out [13–16]. They find contradictory results or sometimes advocate a lack power to find any difference between the cutting guides, due to the low volume of the series. In addition, no study has simultaneously compared these different cutting guides to each other.

Network meta-analyses (NMA) allow the comparison of treatments that were not evaluated directly against each other in individual trials [17]. Therefore, it is a powerful tool to answer an important question when multiple treatment options are available.

To compare the different available cutting guides, we performed a NMA to determine whether the conventional cutting guide, Patient Specific Instrumentation (PSI) or Navigation or Robotic provided any advantages in terms of: [1] rate of outliers in frontal plan [2] clinical outcome scores, [3] the surgical time [4] and other secondary outcomes.

2. Materials and methods

This systematic review and NMA was registered in PROSPERO (Number CRD42021251738) and is reported in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement.

2.1. Search strategy

We searched all RCTs available in electronic databases (Medline, CENTRAL and Embase) starting at the inception date up to April 1, 2022, using dedicated search equations adapted to each database (Appendix 1). We manually searched major international orthopaedic journals (the *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery American Volume*, the *Journal of Arthroplasty*, *Bone Joint Journal* and *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*[®]) and conference proceedings of orthopaedic meetings

(the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, the American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons, and the Société Française de Chirurgie Orthopédique et Traumatologie) from January 1, 2010 to April 1, 2022. We also searched ClinicalTrials.gov and the World Health Organization's International Clinical Trials Registry Platform. Finally, we systematically screened reference lists of systematic reviews and meta-analyses for any additional references.

2.2. Study eligibility and selection process

All RCTs that compared at least two different cutting guides and reported at least one of our mentioned outcomes were included. No restriction on language or date of publication was applied. Exclusion criteria were UKA for another indication than osteoarthritis or femoro-patellar prostheses.

Three main types of outcomes were assessed in this review: the proportion of outliers in frontal plane for tibial and femoral component, the Knee Society Score (Both new and old) between one and two years postoperatively and the rate of complications.

Secondary radiological outcomes, measured on knee X-rays at 6 months postoperatively were: the proportion of HKA outliers; misalignment of tibial and femoral implants in sagittal and axial plane. Other secondary clinical outcomes were assessed: the mean blood loss; the mean Range of Motion (ROM) at 6 months and at 1 and 2 years postoperatively and after two years, KSS at 6 months and after two years postoperatively, Western Ontario et McMaster (WOMAC) score at 6 months and at 1 and 2 years postoperatively and after two years, Oxford Knee Score (OKS) score at 6 months and at 1 and 2 years postoperatively and after two years, Short Form 12 health survey (SF12) at 6 months and at 1 and 2 years postoperatively



Figure 1. This PRISMA flow chart shows the selection process of the network meta-analysis comparing the efficacy of different cutting guides in UKA.

and after two years, Forgotten Joint Score (FJS) at 6 months and at 1 and 2 years postoperatively and after two years, the rate of revisions and the mean surgical time.

Two reviewers independently screened titles, summaries, and full texts whenever necessary to assess the eligibility of each study. Disagreements were resolved by a third reviewer and by contacting the corresponding author in case of persisting doubt.

2.3. Selection and general network characteristics

Our search initially retrieved 1746 records. Finally, 18 RCTs with 1562 patients and 1564 knees were included (Figure 1). The most frequent comparison was conventional versus navigation in 8 of 18 (44.4%). The characteristics of included studies is available on Appendix 2. The global network diagram illustrates that conventional cutting guide were compared with every other technique (Figure 2). The risk of bias of each study remains heterogeneous notably concerning the "sequence generation" and "allocation concealment" (Appendix 3).

2.4. Data extraction and risk of bias assessment

The same reviewers independently extracted data and evaluated the risk of bias using the Cochrane risk-of-bias tool [18] in a dedicated data extraction form that was tested on 10 random records. In case of disagreement, a third reviewer was involved to reach consensus.

Following data was collected: general study information; characteristics of the study; population characteristics; surgical approaches; prothesis; specific surgical; and results for outcomes of interest. Regarding continuous outcomes, means or SD were estimated from the median and the first and third quartiles and/or ranges using approximation formulas [19,20] when not available (Appendix 4). The corresponding authors were contacted in case of missing data.

2.5. Data synthesis and analysis

The unit of analysis was the knee. Binary outcomes were compared using risk ratios (RR). Continuous outcomes were compared using mean differences (MD) with 95% credible intervals (CIs). For direct comparisons, we conducted a conventional meta-analysis to synthesize the results, using random-effects models and fixed-effects models as sensitivity analyses. We combined direct and indirect comparisons via a NMA using the hierarchical model of Lu and Ades [21] with a Bayesian approach. In a Bayesian framework, estimates are based on the mean of the posterior distribution of the endpoint and are called credible intervals (Cis). Usually, the 95% CI corresponding to the interval that has a posterior probability of 95% that the endpoint lies within it. Unlike the frequentist approach, the Bayesian approach does not allow the calculation of the p value. Conclusions are drawn from whether or not 1 (which corresponds to a no-difference relative risk) or 0 (which corresponds to no mean differences) belongs or not to the credible interval. We used Markov Chain Monte Carlo to implement the model. Beta non-informative prior distribution was used for dichotomous outcomes and normal non-informative prior distribution was used for dichotomous outcomes and normal non-informative prior distribution was used for continuous outcomes [22]. The model's convergence was assessed using Brooks-Gelman-Rubin plots [23]. We evaluated the fit via residual deviance [24]. We checked the assumption of transitivity by considering similarity in the distribution of age, sex, and BMI across the different pairwise comparisons. A network diagram was used for each prespecified outcome to present direct comparisons between interventions. We obtained a treatment hierarchy using the surface under the cumulative ranking curve and mean ranks. To infer the assumption of inconsistency, we used a node-splitting



Figure 2. In this global network diagram, the nodes (circles) represent different cutting guides, and their sizes were proportional to the sample size of each respective intervention. The edges (lines) indicate direct comparisons, and their thicknesses were proportional to the number of studies available.

approach [25], and we compared the fit between the consistency and inconsistency models. We statistically assessed the presence of heterogeneity within each network comparison using the l^2 statistic. We used the GEMTC R-package (version 0.8–2) for analyses and netmeta R-package (version 0.9–8) for network diagrams in R version 3.5.2 software (R foundation for statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). The quality of evidence for the main outcomes was evaluated using the GRADE framework [26].

3. Results

All pairwise comparisons are available on Appendix 5.

3.1. Outliers of the femoral and tibial component on frontal plane

Seven studies (38.8%) reported the rate of outliers for femoral and tibial component on the frontal plane (Figure 3a and b). For the femoral component, the rate of outliers was lower in the robotic group than in the PSI group (risk ratio 0.00 [95% CI 0.00 to 0.55]) and greater in the PSI group than in the navigation group (risk ratio 305.1 [95% CI 1.50 to $1,27e^{+07}$]), with $I^2 = 0.0\%$ (Figure 4). Robot had the highest probability of having the lowest proportion of outlier in frontal plane for the femoral component (Figure 5a). For the tibial component, no differences between the different cutting guides were found with $I^2 = 4.0\%$ (Figure 6). PSI had the highest probability of having the lowest proportion of outlier in frontal plane for the tibial component (Figure 5b).



Figure 3. A-D These network diagrams of the main outcomes show (A) Rate of outliers for femoral component in frontal plane, (B) Rate of outliers for tibial component in frontal plane, (C) KSS between one- and two-years post-surgery, (D) rate of complications.



Figure 4. Forest plots in the network meta-analysis of the rate of outliers for femoral component in frontal plane. The data are presented as the risk ratio with 95% credibility intervals, which were obtained using random effects models. The l^2 of the network meta-analysis was 0.0%.

3.2. KSS within one- and two-years post-surgery

Four studies (22.2%) reported the KSS score within one- and two- years post-surgery (Figure 3c). We found no differences between the different cutting guides with $l^2 = 1.0\%$ (Figure 7). Robot had the highest probability of leading to the highest KSS mean values (Figure 5C), although no significant differences were found.

3.3. Rate of complications

Ten studies (45.5%) reported the surgical time (Figure 3d). We found no differences between the different cutting guides with $l^2 = 0.0\%$ (Figure 8). The robot guide had the highest probability of having the lowest rate of complication,ns (Figure 5d), although no significant differences were found. The details of complications is available on Appendix 6.

3.4. Secondary outcomes

Regarding HKA angle, rate of outliers was lower in the robotic group than in the conventional guide group (risk ratio 0.00 [95% CI 0.00 to 0.01]) and than in the navigation group (risk ratio 0.00 [95% CI 0.00 to 0.02], Appendix 7). Regarding the rate of outliers in sagittal plane for the tibial component, the proportion was lower in the robotic group and in the navigation group than in the conventional guide group (respectively, risk ratio 0.26 [95% CI 0.10 to 077] and risk ratio 0.41 [95% CI 0.17 to 0.97], Appendix 7). Concerning the other secondary radiological outcome, found no differences between the different cutting guides. Regarding at 6 months, between one- and two years and after two years post-surgery, we found no differences between the different cutting guides fort the KSS score, OKS score, the WOMAC score, the Joint Forgotten Score, the SF-12 and for the range of motion (Appendix 8). Blood loss was not different between groups. Finally, regarding the rate of revision and the mean surgical time, no differences were observed (Appendix 9).

3.5. Grade evaluation

We performed the GRADE evaluation for the three main outcomes. For the rate of outliers in frontal plane, it indicates that the evidence is moderate for PSI/conventional and low for other comparisons (Appendix 10). For the KSS between one- and twoyears, it suggests that the evidence is moderate for PSI/conventional and high for other comparisons (Appendix 10). For the complication rate, it suggests that the evidence is high PSI/conventional and moderate for other comparisons (Appendix 10).

4. Discussion

No study directly compared navigation to robot or PSI and no study directly compared PSI to robot. Network metaanalyses allowed us to indirectly obtain information on these unrealized comparisons. This study therefore provides new information compared to the existing literature.

The robot is ranked first in all radiological outcome except for the position of the tibial implant in the frontal plane, in 86% of cases. It seems, therefore, that robotics brings precision to the realization of bone cuts in the three planes of space. Furthermore, no difference was found in the different clinical scores at the short, medium and long term. However, experience and technical performance have been reported as parameters that influence clinical outcomes as well as survival in UKA [27–29]. In this regard, new technologies, that improve accuracy may play a role in survival as well as clinical success for lower volume surgeons. This was recently suggested by the Australian registry after three years of follow-up [30].

We have chosen not to give a definition concerning the outliers for the radiological outcome because it depends on the objectives and beliefs of the surgeon. Indeed, currently, new definitions of alignment objectives are multiplying [31]. This choice, not to define them, allowed us to increase the amount of information available but has the disadvantage of making the results more heterogeneous. However, the goal, to assess outlier rates, is to try and show whether a cutting guide is more accurate within the goals set by the surgeon. This is a guarantee of external validity. The lack of more concrete results can be explained, on the clinical outcomes. First, there is a multitude of clinical scores and no recommendation on which score to use in each pathology. Moreover, the multiplicity of clinical scores and times of collection means that there is a huge loss of information. There is no consistency in patient follow-up. However, it seems difficult for a surgical team to regularly and frequently review all the patients operated on without overloading its consultations and continuing to consult new patients [32]. This highlights the mandatory need to homogenize and develop recommendations on the judgment criteria to be col-



Figure 5. A-D These images shows rank probabilities of (A) outlier of femoral component in frontal plane, (B) outlier of tibialcomponent in frontal plane, (C) KSS between one- and two- years post-surgery and (D) rate of complications for each cutting guides. The \times axis represents the ranking. The y axis represents the probability of rank: 0% to 100%. Each color represents one cutting guide: red for conventional, blue for navigation, green for PSI and orange for robot.



Figure 6. Forest plots in the network meta-analysis of the rate of outliers for tibial component in frontal plane. The data are presented as the risk ratio with 95% credibility intervals, which were obtained using random effects models. The l^2 of the network meta-analysis was 4.0%.



Figure 7. Forest plots in the network meta-analysis of the mean difference of KSS between preoperatively and one/two years postoperatively. The data are presented as the relative mean differences with 95% credibility intervals, which were obtained using random effects models. The l² of the network meta-analysis was 1%.



Figure 8. Forest plots in the network meta-analysis of the rate of complications. The data are presented as the risk ratio with 95% credibility intervals, which were obtained using random effects models. The I² of the network meta-analysis was 0.0%.

lected in studies in orthopaedic and especially in prosthetic surgery as recommended by the Core Outcome Measures in Effectiveness Trials (COMET) group [33]. Second, the function is a subjective assessment of the patient on his condition and several parameters come into play. The future function of a prosthetic joint cannot be reduced to the use of a technological tool, other factors depending on the patient, the pathology and the technique influence the final evaluation. The preoperative, intraoperative and postoperative environment play a role and differ between studies [34,35]. Finally, it would be necessary to know from which difference observed between the preoperative and the postoperative, for a given score, this becomes relevant for the patient. There are interesting statistical methods for this, which are increasingly being developed in orthopedics, namely MCIDs (minimal clinically important difference) [36]. MCIDs are used in clinical research as a decision threshold to test the effectiveness of a new treatment compared to current practices [37].

Robotic and computer navigation technology is increasingly used in arthroplasty [38]. In a previous paper, studying cutting guides for total knee replacements, the robot seemed to provide accuracy, but this difference could not be demonstrated due to the lack of data in the literature [2]. However, a recent study comparing the results of the robot with a mechanical ancillary, with a minimum follow-up of 10 years, found no difference [11]. In addition, it has recently been shown that between 2500 and 4000 TKAs would be required in each arm of a study to have an 80% chance of reducing revision rates at 15 years [39].Additional data is therefore necessary in order to really prove the interest or not of robotics in TKA surgery. Similar data are needed for UKA given the difference in technical results and the differences in survival observed [40].

5. Conclusions

Despite the fact that no difference was observed on the clinical endpoints, robotics provides precision in bone cuts in the frontal plane for the femoral component, in the sagittal plane for the tibial component and in alignment end of the lower limb. In addition, no difference was found in the rates of complications and revision and in the duration of the operation.

The cost of robotic technology can be a major economic break and therefore further studies that demonstrate clinical outcome and improve survivorship, are required in order to recommend robotic cutting instruments for UKA surgery.

Ethical approval

Patients were not involved in any aspect of the study design, conduct, or development of the research question or outcome measures. This study is a systematic review and NMA of existing published research. Thus, there was no active patient recruitment for data collection.

Consent to Participate

No necessary.

Consent to publish

All authors gave their consent to publish the study.

Authors' contribution

- Pierre-Alban Bouché: Article design, data collection and analysis and article writing.
- Simon Corsia: Data collection and proofreading.
- Aurélien Hallé: Data analysis and proofreading.
- Nicolas Gaujac: Data collection and proofreading.
- Rémy Nizard: Article design, article writing.

Funding

The researchers did not receive any funding to conduct this study.

Availability of data and materials

Datas are available on requests.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2023.01.003.

References

- [1] Siman H, Kamath AF, Carrillo N, Harmsen WS, Pagnano MW, Sierra RJ. Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty vs Total Knee Arthroplasty for Medial Compartment Arthritis in Patients Older Than 75 Years: Comparable Reoperation, Revision, and Complication Rates. J Arthroplasty 2017;32:1792–7. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2017.01.020</u>.
- [2] van der List JP, McDonald LS, Pearle AD. Systematic review of medial versus lateral survivorship in unicompartmental knee arthroplasty. Knee 2015;22:454–60. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2015.09.011</u>.
- [3] National Joint Registry 15th Annual Report 2018. HQIP 2018. https://www.hqip.org.uk/resource/national-joint-registry-15th-annual-report-2018/ (accessed May 25, 2021).
- [4] Arirachakaran A, Choowit P, Putananon C, Muangsiri S, Kongtharvonskul J. Is unicompartmental knee arthroplasty (UKA) superior to total knee arthroplasty (TKA)? A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trial. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 2015;25:799–806. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00590-015-1610-9</u>.
- [5] Lombardi AVJ, Viacava AJ, Berend KR. Rapid recovery protocols and minimally invasive surgery help achieve high knee flexion. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2006;452:117–22. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.blo.0000238824.56024.7a</u>.
- [6] Smith TO, Chester R, Glasgow MM, Donell ST. Accelerated rehabilitation following Oxford unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: five-year results from an independent centre. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 2012;22:151–8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00590-011-0797-7</u>.
- [7] Laurencin CT, Zelicof SB, Scott RD, Ewald FC. Unicompartmental versus total knee arthroplasty in the same patient. A comparative study. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1991:151–6.
- [8] Walker T, Gotterbarm T, Bruckner T, Merle C, Streit MR. Total versus unicompartmental knee replacement for isolated lateral osteoarthritis: a matchedpairs study. Int Orthop 2014;38:2259–64. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00264-014-2473-0</u>.
- [9] Zuiderbaan HA, van der List JP, Khamaisy S, Nawabi DH, Thein R, Ishmael C, et al. Unicompartmental knee arthroplasty versus total knee arthroplasty: Which type of artificial joint do patients forget? Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2017;25:681–6. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-015-3868-</u>1
- [10] Isaac SM, Barker KL, Danial IN, Beard DJ, Dodd CA, Murray DW. Does arthroplasty type influence knee joint proprioception? A longitudinal prospective study comparing total and unicompartmental arthroplasty. Knee 2007;14:212–7. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2007.01.001</u>.
- [11] Bolognesi MP, Greiner MA, Attarian DE, Watters TS, Wellman SS, Curtis LH, et al. Unicompartmental knee arthroplasty and total knee arthroplasty among Medicare beneficiaries, 2000 to 2009. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2013;95:e174.
- [12] Kawata M, Sasabuchi Y, Inui H, Taketomi S, Matsui H, Fushimi K, et al. Annual trends in knee arthroplasty and tibial osteotomy: Analysis of a national database in Japan. Knee 2017;24:1198–205. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2017.06.005</u>.
- [13] Alvand A, Khan T, Jenkins C, Rees JL, Jackson WF, Dodd CAF, et al. The impact of patient-specific instrumentation on unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: a prospective randomised controlled study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2018;26:1662–70. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00167-017-4677-5</u>.
- [14] Blyth MJG, Anthony I, Rowe P, Banger MS, MacLean A, Jones B. Robotic arm-assisted versus conventional unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: Exploratory secondary analysis of a randomised controlled trial. Bone Joint Res 2017;6:631–9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1302/2046-3758.611.BJR-2017-0060.R1</u>.

81

- [15] Ollivier M, Parratte S, Lunebourg A, Viehweger E, Argenson J-N. The John Insall Award: No Functional Benefit After Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty Performed With Patient-specific Instrumentation: A Randomized Trial. Clin Orthopaedics Related Res[®] 2016;474:60–8. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11999-015-4259-0</u>.
- [16] Song EK, Mohite N, Lee SH, Na BR, Seon JK. Comparison of outcome and survival after unicompartmental Knee arthroplasty between navigation and conventional techniques with an average 9-year follow-up. J Arthroplasty 2016;31:395–400. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2015.09.012</u>.
- [17] Leopold SS. Editorial: "Pencil and Paper" Research? Network Meta-analysis and Other Study Designs That Do Not Enroll Patients. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2015;473:2163–5. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11999-015-4329-3</u>.
- [18] Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, jüni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, et al. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2011;343. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmi.d5928</u>.
- [19] Hozo SP, Djulbegovic B, Hozo I. Estimating the mean and variance from the median, range, and the size of a sample. BMC Med Res Method 2005;5. doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-5-13.
- [20] Weir CJ, Butcher I, Assi V, Lewis SC, Murray GD, Langhorne P, et al. Dealing with missing standard deviation and mean values in meta-analysis of continuous outcomes: a systematic review. BMC Med Res Method 2018;18. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0483-0</u>.
- [21] Lu G, Ades AE. Combination of direct and indirect evidence in mixed treatment comparisons. Stat Med 2004;23:3105-24. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.1875</u>.
- [22] Valkenhoef G van, Kuiper J. gemtc: Network meta-analysis using Bayesian methods. 2020.
- [23] Brooks SP, Gelman A. General methods for monitoring convergence of iterative simulations. J Comput Graph Stat 1998;7:434. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1390675</u>.
- [24] Dias S, Welton NJ, Sutton AJ, Caldwell DM, Lu G, Ades AE. Evidence synthesis for decision making 4: inconsistency in networks of evidence based on randomized controlled trials. Med Decis Making 2013;33:641–56. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0272989X12455847</u>.
- [25] Dias S, Welton NJ, Caldwell DM, Ades AE. Checking consistency in mixed treatment comparison meta-analysis. Stat Med 2010;29:932–44. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.3767</u>.
- [26] Salanti G, Giovane CD, Chaimani A, Caldwell DM, Higgins JPT. Evaluating the quality of evidence from a network meta-analysis. PLoS One 2014;9: e99682.
- [27] Bini S, Khatod M, Cafri G, Chen Y, Paxton EW. Surgeon, implant, and patient variables may explain variability in early revision rates reported for unicompartmental arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2013;95:2195–202. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.2106/jbjs.l.01006</u>.
- [28] Kuipers BM, Kollen BJ, Kaijser Bots PC, Burger BJ, van Raay JJAM, Tulp NJA, et al. Factors associated with reduced early survival in the Oxford phase III medial unicompartment knee replacement. Knee 2010;17:48–52. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2009.07.005</u>.
- [29] Zambianchi F, Digennaro V, Giorgini A, Grandi G, Fiacchi F, Mugnai R, et al. Surgeon's experience influences UKA survivorship: a comparative study between all-poly and metal back designs. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2015;23:2074–80. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-014-2958-9</u>.
- [30] St Mart J-P, de Steiger RN, Cuthbert A, Donnelly W. The three-year survivorship of robotically assisted versus non-robotically assisted unicompartmental knee arthroplasty. Bone Joint J 2020;102-B:319–28. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1302/0301-620X.102B3.BJI-2019-0713.R1</u>.
- [31] Oussedik S, Abdel MP, Victor J, Pagnano MW, Haddad FS. Alignment in total knee arthroplasty. Bone Joint J 2020;102-B:276-9. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1302/0301-620X.102B3.BIJ-2019-1729</u>.
- [32] Piriou P, Biau D, Judet T. Every two year follow-up of arthroplasties: myth or reality? Rev Chir Orthop Reparatrice Appar Mot 2006;92:290–2. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/s0035-1040(06)75739-7.
- [33] Gargon E, Williamson PR, Altman DG, Blazeby JM, Tunis S, Clarke M. The COMET Initiative database: progress and activities update (2015). Trials 2017;18:54. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-017-1788-8</u>.
- [34] Lyman S, Lee Y-Y, McLawhorn AS, Islam W, MacLean CH. What Are the Minimal and Substantial Improvements in the HOOS and JR Versions After Total Joint Replacement? Clin Orthop Relat Res 2018;476:2432–41. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CORR.00000000000456</u>.
- [35] Putman S, Dartus J, Migaud H, Pasquier G, Girard J, Preda C, et al. Can the minimal clinically important difference be determined in a French-speaking population with primary hip replacement using one PROM item and the Anchor strategy? Orthop Traumatol Surg Res 2021;107:102830. doi: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.otsr.2021.102830</u>.
- [36] Copay AG, Subach BR, Glassman SD, Polly DW, Schuler TC. Understanding the minimum clinically important difference: a review of concepts and methods. Spine J 2007;7:541-6. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.spinee.2007.01.008</u>.
- [37] Maredupaka S, Meshram P, Chatte M, Kim WH, Kim TK. Minimal clinically important difference of commonly used patient-reported outcome measures in total knee arthroplasty: review of terminologies, methods and proposed values. Knee Surg Relat Res 2020;32:19. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/ s43019-020-00038-3</u>.
- [38] Boylan M, Suchman K, Vigdorchik J, Slover J, Bosco J. Technology-assisted hip and knee arthroplasties: An analysis of utilization trends. J Arthroplasty 2018;33:1019–23. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.arth.2017.11.033</u>.
- [39] Hickey MD, Anglin C, Masri B, Hodgson AJ. How large a study is needed to detect TKA revision rate reductions attributable to robotic or navigated technologies? A simulation-based power analysis. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2021;479:2350–61. doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/CORR.0000000000001909.
 [40] Evans JT, Walker RW, Evans JP, Blom AW, Sayers A, Whitehouse MR. How long does a knee replacement last? A systematic review and meta-analysis of
- case series and national registry reports with more than 15 years of follow-up. Lancet 2019;393:655–63. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)</u> 32531–5.